IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

SID J. WHITE

MAY 18 1994

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clark

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 83,548

STEPHEN HERNANDEZ

Appellee.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF THE DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL FIFTH DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

MARGENE A. ROPER
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
FL. BAR. #302015
210 N. Palmetto Avenue
Suite 447
Daytona Beach, Florida 32114
(904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

ISSUE PRESENTED

DOES A TRIAL COURT HAVE THE AUTHORITY TO DISPENSE WITH THE SELECTION OF AN ADVISORY JURY IN THE PENALTY PHASE OF A CAPITAL CASE WITHOUT THE CONSENT OF THE STATE WHEN A DEFENDANT ENTERS A PLEA OF GUILTY, WAIVES AN ADVISORY JURY, AND SPECIFICALLY ACKNOWLEDGES THAT THE TRIAL COURT HAS DISCRETION TO IMPOSE A SENTENCE OF LIFE IMPRISONMENT OR THE DEATH PENALTY.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The trial court accepted Stephen Hernandez' waiver of a sentencing proceeding before a jury after he entered a guilty plea in a capital murder case. Hernandez specifically acknowledged that the trial court had the discretion to impose a sentence of life imprisonment or the death penalty (App. F-1). The state asserted that the trial court was without authority to accept the waiver without its consent. The state argued that Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.260 plainly provides that a defendant may waive a jury trial only with the state's consent. The rule states: "Waiver of Jury Trial -- a defendant may in writing waive a jury trial with the consent of the state." Section 921.141(1), Florida Statutes (1991), provides in part that: "(1) Separate Proceedings on Issue of Penalty if the defendant pleaded guilty, the sentencing proceeding shall be conducted before a jury impaneled for that purpose, unless waived by the defendant...." The trial court held that section 921.141(1) applied and that Hernandez could waive a jury in the penalty phase without the state's consent. The trial court reasoned that, because Rule 3.260 appears only under the heading of Chapter IX of the Rules of Criminal Procedure entitled "Trial," it is inapplicable to Chapter XIV proceedings entitled "Sentencing." (App. B).

The Fifth District Court of Appeal agreed (App. F-1). It declined to enter a writ of certiorari requested by the State of Florida. The court noted that Rule 3.260 was adopted in 1968 as Rule 1.260 and it could not have been contemplated that the rule

was also applicable to the sentencing phase of a capital murder case because the legislature did not create the bifurcated procedure of Section 921.141(1) until 1972. Prior to that time the fate of a capital defendant found guilty without a jury rested solely with the court. The district court also noted that Chapter XIV Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.780, entitled "Sentencing Hearing For Capital Cases" specifically refers to and inferentially incorporates section 921.141, without a hint that a conflict existed between any rule of procedure and the statutory provision nor any cross-reference to Rule 3.260. The court further noted that the committee notes specifically indicate that Rule 3.780 was "designed to create a uniform procedure that would be consistent with both Section 921.141, Florida Statutes and State v. Dixon, 283 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1973), which set forth in detail a practical guide for the conduct of the sentencing hearing (App. F-3). In an opinion filed on January 14, 1994, the court concluded that "if the State is to have the right to impanel an advisory jury in a capital felony case after a defendant has entered an unconditional plea of guilt to a capital crime, the Supreme Court by rule, if the matter is procedural, or the legislature by statute, if the matter is substantive, must provide for that right." (App. F).

The Fifth District Court of Appeal denied rehearing on March 18, 1994, but certified as a question of great public importance whether a trial court has the authority to dispense with the selection of an advisory jury in the penalty phase of a capital case without the consent of the State when a defendant

enters a plea of guilty, waives an advisory jury, and specifically acknowledges that the trial court has discretion to impose a sentence of life imprisonment or the death penalty. (App. H). Timely notice of appeal was filed on April 13, 1994.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court must permit the state to present relevant evidence during the penalty phase of a capital case. The legislature has no authority to create a rule of procedure which conflicts with a rule of procedure adopted by this Court which requires the trial court to employ the assistance of an advisory jury during the penalty phase of a capital case if the state is unwilling to waive its right to that jury.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN PERMITTING A CAPITAL DEFENDANT TO WAIVE THE RIGHT TO AN ADVISORY JURY IN THE PENALTY PHASE WITHOUT THE CONSENT OF THE STATE.

The same point of law was involved in the case of State v. Ferguson, 556 So. 2d 462 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990), rev. den., 564 So. 2d 1085 (Fla. 1990), decided by the District Court of Appeal, Second District. In that case the Circuit Court of Lee County convicted the defendant of first degree felony murder following a jury trial. Thereafter, the court concluded that the presentation of evidence to an advisory jury during the penalty phase would be a waste of time, and, over the state's objection discharged the jury and scheduled sentencing for a future date. The State sought a writ of common-law certiorari or prohibition. The Second District Court of Appeal held that the trial court

must permit the State to present relevant evidence during the penalty phase of a capital case, if the state wishes to present such evidence, if death is a legally available penalty. court also held that the legislature has no authority to create a rule of procedure which conflicts with a rule of procedure adopted by this Court which requires the trial court to employ the assistance of an advisory jury during the penalty phase of a capital case if the State is unwilling to waive its right to that jury. The court specifically found that "assuming that the language of section 921.141 permits the waiver of a jury for the penalty phase after a jury has been employed for the guilt phase, the statutory language cannot override the procedural right given to the State in Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.260." So. 2d at 464. It found that that rule clearly specifies that the defendant can only waive trial by jury "with the consent of It held that the legislature has no authority to create a conflicting rule of procedure in section 921.141, Florida Statutes (1987), because only the Florida Supreme Court has the power to adopt rules of practice and procedure and rules relating to waiver of jury trial are procedural rather than substantive. Id. Unlike the Fifth District, the Second District did not interpret the reference to section 921.141 in Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.780 as a decision by this Court to override rule 3.260 during the penalty phase. Id. Appellant would submit that this result is correct.

Article V, Section 2(a) of the Florida Constitution empowers the Supreme Court of Florida to adopt rules for practice

and procedure in all courts. The supremacy of this Court's rule making power is reflected by the very fact that section 921.141, Florida Statutes (1972) has been engulfed by the Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure 3.780. Section 921.141(1) does not expressly permit waiver of a sentencing jury by a capital defendant without the state's consent but rather is silent as to the circumstances and conditions under which such waiver will be permitted. Such conditions are apparent in pre-existing Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.260.

Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.010 indicates that "These rules shall govern the procedure in all criminal proceedings in state courts ..." Rule 3.020 indicates that "These rules are intended to provide for the just determination of every criminal proceeding ..." In State v. Garcia, 229 So. 2d 236 (Fla. 1969), this Court found Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 1.260 to supercede a statutory provision disallowing jury waiver in capital cases for by the operation of Rule 1.010, now Rule 3.010, the rules govern all criminal procedure in state courts. 229 So. 2d at 239.

Chapter XIV dealing with sentencing cannot be read in a vacuum. Neither that chapter nor Rule 3.780 even provide for a penalty phase jury. The right to a trial by jury in the penalty phase, which is a "trial," arises procedurally by virtue of Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.251, extending the right to trial by jury to all criminal prosecutions. If Rule 3.251 of Chapter IX is read in pari materia with Chapter XIV to create the procedural right to a jury trial in the penalty phase then Rule

3.260, which is set out immediately below Rule 3.251 should not be interpreted to apply only to Chapter IX. Section 921.141(1) only provides for the impaneling of a jury after a guilty plea. The right to a jury at all in the penalty phase necessarily arises because of Rule 3.251, which relates to Appellant would submit that if the defendant is to have the right to unilaterally waive an advisory jury in the penalty phase in a capital case then this Court by rule or modification of existing rules must provide for the same. The court has not done so since the creation of the bifurcated procedure in 1972. In dictum in Williams v. State, 595 So. 2d 936, 938 (Fla. 1992), this Court implied that the trial judge made an erroneous ruling concerning the penalty phase in accepting the defendant's waiver of the advisory jury over the objection of the state. In Sireci v. State, 587 So. 2d 450, 452 (Fla. 1991), this Court found no abuse of discretion in the trial judge's refusal to grant a capital defendant's waiver of a jury sentencing recommendation where the state had objected.

The decision whether or not an individual must die is not one that has traditionally been entrusted to judges. Spaziano v. Florida, 468 U.S. 447, 476 (1984). "The administration of the Florida statute reflects a deeply rooted impulse to legitimate the process through involvement of the jury. That is made evident not only through the use of an advisory jury but also by the fact that the statute has been construed to forbid a trial judge to reject the jury's decision unless he finds that the evidence favoring a sentence of death is so clear and convincing

that virtually no reasonable person could impose a lesser sentence. Thus, the Florida experience actually lends support to the conclusion that American jurisprudence has considered the use of the jury to be important to the fairness and legitimacy of Spaziano, 468 U.S. at 476-477 (Justice capital punishment." Stevens, with whom Justice Brennan and Justice Marshall join, concurring in part and dissenting in part). The concurrence in Spaziano v. Florida, supra, found that it is doubtful that judicial sentencing has worked to reduce the level of capital sentencing disparity; if anything, the evidence in override cases suggests that the jury reaches the appropriate result more often than does the judge. Id. 468 U.S. at 477 n.17. In Barclay v. Florida, 463 U.S. 939, 955-56 (1983), the Tedder v. State, 322 (Fla. 1975), standard was cited as contributing to individualized sentencing. Dobbert v. In Florida, 432 U.S. 282, 294-95 (1977), Tedder was recognized as a significant procedural safeguard. Even overruling Tedder and its progeny and treating jury recommendations as a advisory only as the legislature intended they be treated calls for the same result in this case as the advisory recommendation is important red line in the road along with aggravating and mitigating signs in determining what direction a capital case will ultimately take.

As the above history reflects, the voice of the community is even more important in a capital case and no arbitrary distinction should be made making waiver of trial by jury dependent upon the consent of the state and approval of the court

in cases where the stakes are less but forgoing the need for consent of the state in cases where the elimination of disparity is essential. The consent of the state is a valuable tool in ensuring the even application of the death penalty. Moreover, the rules of procedure require the trial court to permit the state to present evidence of an aggravating nature, consistent with the requirements of section 921.141 and so long as death is a legally available penalty, the trial court should permit the state to present relevant evidence during the penalty phase, if the state wishes to present that evidence.

CONCLUSION

Appellant, therefore, requests this Court to grant discretionary review and enter an order quashing the decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal and answering the certified question in conformity with the sound reasoning of <u>State v.</u> Ferguson, 556 So. 2d 462 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990).