### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Petitioner,
vs.
STEPHEN HERNANDEZ,
Respondent.

CASE NO. 83,548

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF CERTIFIED QUESTION BY THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

## ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

LARRY B. HENDERSON ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER 112-A Orange Avenue Daytona Beach, Fl. 32114 (904) 252-3367

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

04

#

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent accepts the government's Statement of the Case and Facts with the following exceptions:

"waiver of a sentencing proceeding . . . . " (Initial Brief "IB" at 2). The trial judge here accepted a defendant's waiver of an advisory sentencing recommendation, but the waiver did not affect the state's ability to present evidence or argument to the judge in the sentencing proceeding and, prior to accepting the waiver, the judge expressly informed the state, the defendant and defense counsel that no sentencing determination had yet been made.

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The state has neither a constitutional nor statutory right to jury sentencing. A defendant convicted of a capital crime is entitled to an advisory sentencing recommendation from a jury pursuant to § 921.141, Florida Statutes, but that statute allows a defendant who has pled guilty to waive that entitlement if he or she so decides and the sentencer agrees. Even if a defendant wishes to waive an advisory recommendation, the sentencer/trial judge may none-the-less exercise his or her discretion and obtain a jury sentencing recommendation to assist in the sentencing decision. Neither § 921.141, Florida Statutes, nor Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.260 empowers the state to require a judge to impanel a jury and obtain an advisory sentencing recommendation in the face of a valid waiver by the defendant.

Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.260 specifies how the substantive right to a trial by jury found in the state and federal constitutions can effectively be waived by a defendant - it does not give the state a separate substantive right to a jury recommendation in a capital case. The decision of the trial judge and the reasoning of the Fifth District Court of Appeal in this case should be upheld.

#### ARGUMENT

BECAUSE THE STATE HAS NO ENTITLEMENT TO JURY SENTENCING IN A CAPITAL CASE, THE STATE CANNOT PREVENT A TRIAL JUDGE FROM ACCEPTING A DEFENDANT'S KNOWING AND VOLUNTARY WAIVER OF A JURY SENTENCING RECOMMENDATION.

Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.260 states, "A defendant may in writing waive a jury trial with the consent of the state." urges1 that Rule 3.260 "requires the trial court to employ the assistance of an advisory jury during the penalty phase of a capital case if the State is unwilling to waive its right to that jury." (IB at 5). The state's logic is strained and specious. Rule 3.260 does not provide entitlement to a jury, but instead specifies what is required for a defendant to effectively waive the right to a jury trial provided under Article I, Section 16 of the Florida Constitution and the sixth and fourteenth amendments to the United States Constitution. See Chapter 913, Florida Statutes. The waiver of a jury trial is a procedural matter governed by rules adopted by the supreme court. State v. Garcia, 229 So.2d 236 (Fla. 1969). That said, however, rules governing what is needed to waive a jury trial do not provide the state with an independent, substantive right to jury sentencing.

If the state's construction of Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.260 is accepted, a trial judge would have to dispense with a jury's advice if both the defendant and the state waive a sentencing recommendation. See <u>Dumas v. State</u>, 439 So.2d 246, 250 fn. 5 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983), rev. denied, 462 So.2d 1105 (Fla. 1984) (noting that, under the revised Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.260, trial by the court is mandatory when the defendant and the state agree); <u>See also</u> committee note to Rule 3.260.

The constitutional right to jury trial encompasses jury determinations of quilt or innocence:

Those who wrote our constitutions knew from history and experience that it was necessary to protect against unfounded criminal charges brought to eliminate enemies and against judges too responsive to the voice of higher authority. The framers of the constitutions strove to create an independent judiciary but insisted upon further protection against arbitrary action. Providing an accused with the right to be tried by a jury of his peers gave him an inestimable safeguard against the corrupt or overzealous prosecutor and against the compliant, biased or eccentric judge.

Duncan v. Louisiana, 391 U.S. 145, 156, 88 S.Ct. 1444, 20 L.Ed.2d 491 (1968). It is settled that the sixth amendment does not encompass jury sentencing, even in the context of the death penalty. Hildwin v. Florida, 490 U.S. 638, 109 S.Ct. 2055, 104 L.Ed.2d 728 (1989); Spaziano v. Florida, 468 U.S. 447, 104 S.Ct. 3154, 82 L.Ed.2d 340 (1984). If a defendant does not have sixth amendment entitlement to jury participation in the capital sentencing determination, neither does the state.

The right of a defendant to jury participation in the sentencing determination in a capital case is conferred by statute. In pertinent part, the statute provides:

Upon conviction or adjudication of guilt of a defendant of a capital felony, the court shall conduct a separate sentencing proceeding to determine whether the defen-dant should be sentenced to death or life imprisonment as authorized by §775.082. \* \* \* If the trial jury has been waived, or if the defendant pleaded guilty, the sentencing proceeding shall be conducted before a jury impaneled for that purpose, unless waived by the defendant.

Section 921.141(1), Florida Statutes (1987).

Section 921.141(1) does not give the state the ability to prevent a defendant who has pled guilty to a capital crime from waiving a sentencing recommendation from a jury that would have to be specially impaneled for that purpose. As the law now stands, it is discretionary for a trial judge to accept a defendant's waiver of a jury recommendation as to what sentence should be imposed:

The law is clear that a trial judge "upon a finding of a voluntary and intelligent waiver, may in his or her discretion either require an advisory jury recommendation or may proceed to sentence the defendant without such advisory jury recommendation." State v. Carr, 336 So.2d 358, 359 (Fla.1976). See also Palmes v. State, 397 So.2d 648, 656 (Fla.), cert. denied, 454 U.S. 882, 102 S.Ct. 369, 70 L.Ed.2d 195 (1981).

<u>sireci v. State</u>, 587 So.2d 450, 452 (Fla. 1991), cert. denied, 503 U.S. \_\_\_, 112 S.Ct. 1500, 117 L.Ed.2d 639 (1992). If the judge in the sound exercise of discretion declines the advice of a sentencing jury and the defendant who has pled guilty otherwise validly waives the statutory entitlement to a jury sentencing recommendation, the state cannot be heard to complain because it has no entitlement under the statute(s), constitution(s) or rule(s) of criminal procedure to require a jury sentencing recommendation. The state's ability to present evidence and argument to the sentencer prior to a sentencing decision being made, pursuant to Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.780, is in no way affected by the trial judge accepting a defendant's valid waiver of a jury sentencing recommendation.

Further, the state's reliance on <u>State v. Ferguson</u>, 556 So.2d 462 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990), rev. denied, 564 So.2d 1085 (Fla. 1990) is misplaced, for the court in <u>Ferguson</u> expressly noted:

In this case, the trial jury was not waived. The defendant did not plead guilty. It is not even clear that the defendant waived the jury for the penalty phase.

State v. Ferguson, 556 So.2d at 464 (emphasis added). Thus, the reasoning of the district court as to whether a trial court "must also employ the assistance of an advisory jury if the state is unwilling to waive its right to that jury" Ferguson, 556 So.2d at 463, is dicta since the trial court had no discretion to dispense with a sentencing recommendation in the absence of an unequivocal waiver by the defendant.

A sentencing hearing is not a trial. Unanimity between jurors is not required. The rules of evidence are relaxed. The jurors are not sequestered between the verdict and a sentencing recommendation. Waiver of a jury recommendation is not required to be in writing, as is waiver of a jury trial. Dispensing with a jury sentencing recommendation is not only fiscally sound, but as importantly it avoids serious constitutional issues concerning composition of "death-qualified" juries, sufficiency/adequacy of subjective jury instructions, and possible errors/unreliability caused by unfairly prejudicial evidence and/or improper state argument. The decisions of the trial judge and reasoning of the Fifth District Court of Appeal are correct and should accordingly be affirmed.

#### CONCLUSION

The certified question should be answered in the affirmative because the state is not entitled to an advisory sentence from the jury. A jury recommendation is to assist the sentencer and the trial court is in the best position to determine whether a defendant's waiver of a jury for a penalty hearing should be honored.